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1. Name of Property

historic name Downtown Dayton Historic District

other names/site number

2. Location

street & number ____ 

city or town __Dayton 

state ^Washington___ 

zip code 99328_____

not for publication 

___ vicinity __

code __WA__ county _Columbia code 013

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, I hereby certify 
that this X nomination ___ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for
registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional 
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property ^ meets ___ does not meet the 
National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant __ nationally __ 
statewid locally. { See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of Certifying official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property __ 
sheet for additional comments.)

meets does not meet the National Register criteria. ( See continuation

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that this property is:

entered in the National Register
__ See continuation sheet, 
determined eligible for the
National Register
__ See continuation sheet, 
determined not eligible for the
National Register 
removed from the National Register

other (explain):
Signature of Keeper Date of Action
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property 
_X_ private 
_x_ public-local 
__ public-State 
__ public-Federal

Category of Property
__ building(s) 
_X_ district 
__ site 
__ structure 
__ object

Number of Resources within Property
Contributing Noncontributing 
_29_ _13_ buildings 
____ ____ sites 
____ ____ structures
______ _____ objects

total

Name of related multiple property listing 
NA

Number of contributing resources previously 
listed in the National Register 3__

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions! 
Cat: Sub:

COMMERCE/TRADE Specialty Store 
Business

GOVERNMENT
TRANSPORTATION

_Financial Institution 
_Courthouse____ 
Rail-related

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions) 
Cat: Sub:

COMMERCE/TRADE

GOVERNMENT______
"RECREATION & CULTURE

Specialty Store___ 
_Financial Institution 
_Business__________

Courthouse
Museum

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions) 
LATE VICTORIAN Italianate

Materials (Enter categories from instructions
foundation 
roof ____ 
walls

CONCRETE, BRICK, STONE 
"ASPHALT___________________~_
"BRICK___________________
"STUCCO

other

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one 
or more continuation sheets.)
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

__X___ A Property is associated 
with events that have made a significant 
contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history.

___ B Property is associated with 
the lives of persons significant in our 
past.

__X__ C Property embodies the 
distinctive characteristics of a type, 
period,or method of construction,or 
represents the work of a master,or 
possesses high artistic values,or 
represents a significant and 
distinguishable entity whose components 
lack individual distinction.

___ D Property has yielded, or is 
likely to yield information important in 
in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations

___ A owned by a religious 
institution or used for religious 
purposes.

B removed^from its original

C a birthplace or a grave.

D a cemetery.

E a reconstructed building,

location.

object,or structure.

___ F a commemorative property.

___ G less than 50 years of age 
or achieved significance within the past 
50 years.

Areas of Significance (Enter categories 
from instructions)

COMMERCE

AGRICULTURE

TRANSPORTATION 

GOVERNMENT

Period of Significance

1880-1949

Significant Dates _1887
1899"

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion 
B is marked above)

Cultural Affiliation

NA

Architect/Builder

W.H. Burrows, John Nash

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on one or 
more continuation sheets.)
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9. Major Bibliographical References

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more 
continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NFS)

__ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been
requested.

__ previously listed in the National Register 
__ previously determined eligible by the National Register 
__ designated a National Historic Landmark
__ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey # _________ 
__ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # ________

Primary Location of Additional Data
__ State Historic Preservation Office
__ Other State agency
__ Federal agency
_X_ Local government
__ University
_X_ Other
Name of repository: __Dayton Historical Depot Society, Dayton Library

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property

UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
1 _ _____ _____ 3 _ _____ ______
2 _ _____ _____ 4 _ _____ ______ 

See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation 
sheet.)

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet, 

11. Form Prepared By

name/title__Florence K. Lentz, based on information submitted by Dayton Historical Commission, for____ 

organization__Office of Archaeology & Historic Preservation____ date December, 1998

street & number___107 E. 17th Ave.__________________ telephone_509-925-3944

city or town__Ellensburg_________________ state WA zip code 98926______
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Additional Documentation

Continuation Sheets 
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or
numerous resources. 

Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property. 

Additional items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.) 

name __________________________________________________

street & number_____________________________ telephone_______ 

city or town______________________________ state____ zip code
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7. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION

Downtown Dayton is a four-block-long business district situated in the small farming 
community of Dayton, Washington. Dayton was founded in 1871 as an agricultural service 
center catering to the needs of farmers and ranchers in the rich Walla Walla wheat region of 
southeastern Washington. Dayton's downtown is a mix of late 19th-century and early 20th- 
century brick commercial buildings ranging in date from 1880 to 1949. Of primary 
importance are the 1881 Dayton Depot and the 1887 Columbia County Courthouse, both 
listed individually in the National Register. The district boundaries encompass about two- 
thirds of the small downtown core, and contain 42 buildings, 29 of which are considered 
contributing.

Natural Setting

Dayton lies at the heart of the earliest agricultural region on the Columbia Plateau. Rolling 
dune-like hills, high plateaus, and deep vegetated canyons characterize the topography. 
The town is surrounded by wheatfields. In their shifting cycles of cultivation, these hillside 
fields form a distinctive pattern of brown, green, and gold visible from most vantage points in 
town. To the southeast not ten miles distant lie the forested Blue Mountains.

Dayton was founded in 1871 on bottomland at the confluence of Patit Creek and the Touchet 
River, a moderately-sized stream prone to flooding in the spring. The Touchet flows into 
town in a northwesterly direction from its source in the Blue Mountains, then winds to the 
west. The town evolved on both sides of the river, connected by a bridge on Main Street 
which marks the highway entrance into downtown. Residential neighborhoods grew up on 
both sides of Main Street. The earliest platted additions are filled with handsome brick and 
wood-frame homes of the 1870s, '80s, and 90s. Two of Dayton's residential districts are 
already listed in the National Register.

Dayton has not experienced significant sprawl. The value of the surrounding land, and the 
lack of other growth industry in town, has resulted in considerable integrity of its edges, both
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of the town as a whole, and of the four-block-long business district. Only along the primary 
highway entrance into town from the southwest, from Walla Walla and Waitsburg, have 
agriculture-related businesses appeared.

Architectural Character

The development of downtown Dayton was typical of agricultural towns that rapidly took 
shape across the most fertile inland regions of the Pacific Northwest in the prosperous 
decades of the 1870s and 1880s . Three to four blocks of wood-frame, false-fronted 
commercial buildings lined Main Street during its first ten years. In the early 1880s, 
however, a series of fires destroyed individual structures and blocks of structures. 
Rebuilding occurred quickly with local brick from A.J. Dexter"s brick manufactory, lumber
from the town's planing mill, and iron from the local Columbia Iron Works.

j
Over the next two decades, the wealth of the region was expressed in Dayton's exuberant 
commercial architecture. The new business blocks included many two and three-story brick 
buildings with the vertical proportions, ornate roofline detailing, and cast iron storefronts 
fashionable in the late 19th century. The predominant style was Italianate, although there 
were also examples of Second Empire and Stick/Eastlake. Historic photos show that even 
the single-story brick buildings were enlivened with unusually elaborate parapet detailing. In 
the 1890s, elaborate Italianate cornices gave way to fanciful corbelled brick detailing above 
storefronts, around upper-story windows, and along parapets. Some of the more substantial 
buildings of this period were designed by local architects W.H. Burrows and John Nash.

Pivotal buildings erected in the 1880s and 1890s included the Columbia County Courthouse, 
the Guernsey-Sturdevant Building, the Day Building, the Hotel Dayton, the Lockwood 
Building, Weinhard Hall, the Odd Fellows Building (now demolished), and the Dayton Depot 
(moved downtown in 1899 from its original location across the river).

In the first two decades of the 20th century, construction of new commercial buildings 
downtown slowed considerably. Modest one-story and a few two-story masonry structures 
filled in vacant lots and replaced older wood-frame structures. These buildings continued 
the traditional Main Street formula in their facade and storefront design. Few buildings
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expressed pure architectural styles as such, although some facades were influenced by the 
Romanesque, Colonial, and Mission Revivals. Images from the period show a graded Main 
Street (paved by 1915), cast iron street lamps with triple globes, and multiple canvas 
storefront awnings. Early-day autos angle-parked up to extra wide concrete sidewalks.

Historic photos reveal virtually no new construction and few substantive changes to existing 
buildings from 1920 through the early 1940s. The impact of the automobile, however, 
became ever more visible. Main Street was paved and, by removal of the parking strips, 
widened to allow four lanes of traffic and parallel parking on either side. To better light the 
highway, tall cobra lamps replaced the old pedestrian-scaled, cast-iron light standards. 
Neon signage appeared at second-story and parapet levels to more effectively attract the 
passing motorist.

After World War Two, but still within the historic period, a Ford dealership and Shell gas 
station went in at the corner of First and Main. This sleek new structure in the Art Moeierne 
style was the first to alter the traditional streetscape of downtown Dayton with a set-back 
from the sidewalk. Two more new buildings in a spare post-war style went up, replacing 
older brick structures. These were the Criss Furniture and Suffield's Furniture stores.

Today, the Downtown Dayton Historic District consists largely of the same stock of late 19th 
and early 20th century buildings. The preponderance of these date from the decade of the 
1880s. Character-defining features from the historic period include the alignment of 
buildings with zero-setback along Main Street, rooflines with stepped parapets and corbelled 
brickwork, the rhythm and pattern of vertically-proportioned windows at the second-story 
level, exposed brick masonry and stucco facades, and storefronts with traditional 
configurations of bulkhead, recessed entry, display windows, and transoms. The overall 
character of the district still strongly reflects a small but prosperous, turn-of-the-century 
agricultural center.

Changes that have occurred since 1950 have, to some degree, eroded the ambiance of the 
district. The most serious of these include: the removal of upper stories from the Hotel 
Dayton, the loss of nearly one-half of Weinhard Hall to fire, the recent construction of a free­ 
standing bank at the corner of Second and Main, and complete exterior remodels of part of 
the Day Block (now State Farm and Croft's Floral Shoppe) and part of the old Edwards-
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Hindle mercantile (now Sterling Savings). Other modifications include some incompatible 
storefront and street facade cover-ups.

In recent years, a number of these inappropriate alterations have been reversed, as property 
owners seek to recapture the historic character of downtown Dayton. These rehabilitation 
efforts range from full-scale, accurate restorations, to replacement of badly altered 
storefronts with new but compatible fabric. The carefully-executed restorations of the 
Dayton Depot and the Columbia County Courthouse together served as the catalysts for 
these projects.

Contributing and Non-Contributing Features

Contributing Features Contributing features are those that were present during downtown 
Dayton's period of significance (1880 through 1949), relate to its documented significance - 
in areas of commerce, agriculture, transportation, and/or government - and retain historic 
integrity. Buildings altered prior to 1950 may be considered contributing. Numbers 
correspond to those on the accompanying sketch map. Beginning at the lower end of Main 
Street on the northwest side:

1. 151 -153 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B13, L(f)10
c. 1905
A single-story brick masonry building with corner pilasters, recessed brick panel and
sawtooth coursing along the roofline. Original storefront configuration with recessed double
entrance. Most storefront fabric and finishes replaced.

First appears on a 1909 Sanborn Insurance Co. map as a barber shop and office.

2. 157 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B13, L(f)10
c. 1905
A single-story brick masonry building with layers of ornate corbelled brickwork along stepped
parapet. Storefront configuration intact, but most fabric and finishes replaced.
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Robinson Harness & Saddle Shop in business here from 1907 through 1940. Appears on a 
1909 Sanborn map at one-half its present depth, with an attached wood-frame harness 
repair shop at rear. By 1916, brick masonry structure doubled in depth, with detached wood- 
frame auto repair shop at rear along alley.

4. Dusenberry & Stencil Building 179 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B13, L9
1880
Designed by Dayton architect W.H. Burrows. A two-story brick masonry building with
Italianate detailing. Cast iron columns, multi-paned second story sash with label moldings,
and intact entry to second story. An ornate, projecting cornice at the parapet removed prior
to 1950. Storefront altered after 1950.

Touted as Dayton's "first modern brick" building. -Appears in 1884 birdseye view of Dayton. 
Sanborn maps through 1891 show first floor businesses as general merchandise, books and 
stationery, a barber shop, and a restaurant, with a hall and rooms on the second story. 
Local traditions holds that the outlaw Tracy once wintered here. From 1909 on, Sanborn 
maps indicate a "repository" for agricultural implements, wagons, and autos, and a second 
story lodge hall. Businesses associated with the building over time were Dusenberry & 
Stencil, Gilmour Hardware, and Dingles Hardware. An American Legion Post met upstairs 
in the late 1940s.

5. 179 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B13, L8
c.1905, remodelled c.1930
A one-story brick building with a distinctive stepped parapet with contrasting cream and dark
red brick. A traditional storefront with a full width span of vertical transom windows around
both street facades. Double recessed entries, display windows, and bulkheads retain early
configuration and original fabric.

Stands on the site of Dayton's first hostelry, the Columbia Hotel. It burned between 1884 
and 1888, and was replaced with a one-story frame building. A 1909 Sanborn map shows a 
single-story brick building of similar proportions in place. Prater & Rinehart Hardware and
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Implements occupied it during this period. Another fire gutted the building in the late 1920s, 
and its roof and parapet were rebuilt to their present-day appearance.

6. 112 N. First
Day's Original Plat - B18, L12
c. 1895
A one-story brick building with narrow, segmental-arched windows and doors, corbelling
along the parapet, and one garage opening with a modern, roll-top door.

First appears on a 1909 Sanborn map as a one-story addition to the Day Block which fronted 
on Main Street. The office of Dr. E.H. VanPatten, whose name appears on the door, and an 
auto garage shared the space. By 1943, the building housed one shop, one office, and a 
small garage.

8. Day Block 211 E. Main
Day's Original Plat-618, L11-12
1882
A two-story brick masonry building with a stucco finish, and five remnant round-arched
windows at the upper floor. Original cornice and parapet detail removed and cast-iron
storefront covered up prior to 1950.

The two-story remnant of one-half of the Day Block, an anchor structure in downtown 
Dayton. Levi Ankeny and associates of Dayton and Portland founded the Columbia National 
Bank in 1883. Sanborn maps from 1884 through 1943 show the Columbia National Bank 
(and later banks) as the principal occupant of the corner storefront. Historic photos show the 
original Italianate-styled brick building with eleven handsome round-arched windows, cast- 
iron storefronts, bullseye windows on the First Street side, and a bold projecting cornice at 
the roof line.

This half of the building housed general merchandise and later a hardware store. The 
second story contained professional offices accessed from the surviving sidewalk entry. 
By the late 1940s, this portion of the building had been stuccoed, and stripped of its 
elaborate cornice. The ground floor was in use as a Pontiac garage, and the storefront had 
plate glass windows.
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9. Guernsey-Sturdevant Building 217 - 225 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B18, 10-11
1882
A two-story, Italianate-styled, brick masonry building with an elaborate wood cornice, formal
window surrounds, and intact cast-iron and wood storefronts. Facade stuccoed and cornice
removed by 1950. Carefully restored in the late 1980s based upon historic photos, and
returned to retail and residential use. Individually listed in the National Register in 1993.

Built by banker D.C. Guernsey, and attorney R.M. Sturdevant, in the prosperous decade of 
the 1880s. Two or three retail storefronts housed a variety of commercial businesses over 
the years, including a saloon, billiards hall, candy store, grocery, dry goods and notions, 
farm implements, and hardware. Offices and furnished rooms occupied the second story - 
primary access from the sidewalk remains.

j
10. Weinhard Building 229 - 235 E. Main 
Day's Original Plat - B18, L10 
1890
A two-story brick building recently converted for use as a fine hotel and restaurant. 
Approximately one-half of the building burned down after 1950, and this vacant lot now 
serves as the hotel parking lot. Distinctive brick coursing and corbelling remains at the 
upper story level. Storefront remodeled somewhat earlier with new brick and plate glass.

German immigrant Jacob Weinhard moved to Dayton in 1880 and established Jacob 
Weinhard's Brewery on Front Street, now demolished. This building, which first appears on 
Sanborn maps in 1891, operated as a large saloon and billiard hall on the ground floor, and 
as a lodge hall on the second story. Sanborn maps for 1916 show the hall had been greatly 
expanded to the rear.
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11. Monnett & Hamilton Building 241 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B18, L9
c. 1910
A single-story, masonry building with buff brick-facing, recessed parapet panels, transom
windows, and storefront configurations intact. Matches the earlier building next door in
design and materials (see #12 below).

Designed by John Nash, local architect and contractor. First appears on a 1916 Sanborn 
map as a hardware and paint store. Occupied by Monnett & Hamilton Hardware from the 
1910s into the 1970s. A faded wall sign painted on the brick at the rear of the building, 
facing the depot and railroad tracks, reads "Monnett & Hamilton, Hardware and Implements."

12. Weinhard Block 247 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B18, L8 J
1898
A single-story, masonry building with recessed parapet panels and buff brick facing exposed,
transom windows boarded over, and storefront configuration and fabric intact.

Built by local brewery owner Jacob Weinhard on the site of a frog pond. Attributed to John 
Nash, architect and builder. Appears on 1909, 1916, and 1943 Sanborn maps as a general 
merchandise store continuous with the building next door (see #13 under Non-Contributing 
Features below). Early proprietors were Hanger & Thompson and, by 1915, the Edwards- 
Hindle Co., selling clothing and groceries.

14. Dayton Depot 222 E. Second
Day's Original Plat - B18, L4-6
1881, moved 1899
A two-story, Stick/Eastlake-styled, wood-frame building with a cross-gabled roof. A second
story stationmaster's quarters provides access to a balcony around three sides. Prominent
bracket detailing, decorative bargeboards in the gables, original siding, windows, and doors.
Interior spaces are intact, and include high ceilings, beaded board walls, and wainscoting.
Unusual architectural quality and integrity.
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The oldest surviving train station in Washington, built in 1881 by the Oregon Railroad and 
Navigation Company in its quest to connect the fertile wheatlands of the Walla Walla region 
to Portland. Listed in the National Register in 1974.

15. Day Building 112 N. Second
Day and Mustard Plat - B31, L1
c. 1925
Mission Revival-styled, single-story stuccoed office building with simple wood detailing.

Built by and for Dr. W.W. Day, the third generation of pioneer Dayton physicians of that 
name. The first W.W. Day arrived in 1872, practiced medicine until his death, and was 
succeeded by his son C.H. Day. Earlier locations of the family practice in second-story 
offices on Main Street.

18. Dantzscher Building 309 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B31, L11
c.1895
A two-story brick structure with segmental-arched second story windows. Stucco finish
applied, and Italianate cornice removed, prior to 1950. Distinctive wooden storefront
elements intact, but partially covered up.

The former location of Joy's Hall, a gable-roofed wood-frame building with a meeting hall 
upstairs. It may be this frame building that appears on Sanborn maps as early as 1888, 
housing Dantzscher's tailor and millinery shop, a drug store, and lodgings on the second 
floor. Brick structure in place by 1896. By 1909, the tailor shop became the local telephone 
company office, and remained so into the 1940s.

19. Columbia County Courthouse 341 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B31, CH
1887
Designed by Dayton architect W.H. Burrows. A two and one-half story, stuccoed brick,
Italianate building with a 22-foot lantern with louvered windows, bellcast Mansard roof, and
iron cresting. Distinctive features include rusticated base, quoins, paired segmental arch
windows, and pediment statuary.
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The oldest working courthouse in Washington. Columbia County was chartered in 1875, 
carved out of Walla Walla County. The "courthouse square," 8 lots donated by J.N. Day, 
appears as such (still undeveloped) on 1884 Sanborn maps. Construction funds were voted 
by the citizenry in 1886. Courthouse listed in the National Register in 1975. Exterior and 
interior were carefully restored with private and public funds in 1990-91.

20. Suffield's Furniture 362 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B30, L6
c.1945
A spare, Moderne-styled, single-story building with 1940s detail. Stucco finish, suspended
canopy, angular recessed entryway. Original painted and neon wall signage.

Built on the site of the former Alta Hotel, a two-story brick building dating to c.1900. It 
housed Suffield's Furniture store and the local Power & Light Co. on the ground floor. New 
furniture store reflected wartime and post-war boom. Store remains in business.

21. Columbia Chronicle Building 358 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B30, L5
c.1908
A narrow masonry building, single-story, with a raised basement. Faint suggestions of
Romanesque Revival, including a street facade of rusticated concrete block. Distinctive
fenestration, recessed entrance up granite steps. "Columbia Chronicle" in relief on parapet.

The "Columbia Chronicle" was founded in 1878, with R.M Burke as editor. Over the years 
the newspaper consolidated with others, including the "Columbia County Dispatch," founded 
in 1903. By 1928, the "Dayton Chronicle-Dispatch" was the only newspaper in the county. 
This building first appears in the 1909 Sanborn maps with a printing press in place. It 
remains in use today as the "Dayton Chronicle" building.



NFS Form 10-900-a OMB- 1024-0018 

(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section _7_ Page _16__ _Downtown Dayton Historic District_
Name of Property
_Columbia Co., WA_________ 

County and State

Name of Multiple Property Listing

22. Hubbard Building 350-352 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B30, L5
1906
A distinctive, one-story brick building with a corbelled cornice, decorative brick panels, large
multi-paned transom windows, and cast iron columns. Outer columns of rusticated concrete.
Early photo shows storefront angled in to a double entrance, divided by another column of
rusticated concrete. Recently rehabilitated

Built for the Hubbard Coffee Co. Shows on Sanborn maps of 1909 and 1916 as a single 
general merchandise store. By 1943, in use as a bowling alley. Owned by Hubbard family 
until 1979, then sold to present owner.

23. Liberty Theater 344 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B30, L4
1920
A single-story brick structure clad with stucco. Facade remodeled in the 1930s, and again in
1941. Projecting ticket booth, and marquee with neon-tube lighting now removed.

Built on the site of the old Dreamland Theater, destroyed by fire in 1919. Designed by 
architect Charles B. Lambert of Walla Walla for John Brining, prominent local businessman. 
Operated from 1917 (in the earlier building) through 1964 as the Liberty Theater.

28. Chandler Building 258 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L5
c. 1900
A narrow, single-story masonry building with a stuccoed facade. Early photo shows three
simple iron columns and recessed entries. Storefront now partially covered over with vertical
board siding.

Sanborn maps from 1884 through 1943 show a building in this configuration occupied by a 
meat market. From 1916, an addition to the rear housed a sausage factory.
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29. 250 - 254 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L5
c. 1900
A single-story brick building with pressed metal cornice and finials intact. Storefronts
covered-up with wood shakes and vertical barn wood. Early photos show two decorative
pediments atop the parapet. Both had been removed by 1950.

Grocery, drug store, and restaurant businesses occupied the two retail spaces from 1909 
into 1960s. Additions to the rear housed bake house and warehouse uses.

30. 242 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L4
1890
A simple1, single-story masonry building with stuccoed, three-panel facade above an altered
storefront. Transom windows covered up.

Building appears on 1889 Sanborn map as "being built." By 1891 a concrete tin shop had 
been appended to the rear, later serving as a restaurant, and storage area. The storefront 
variously housed a hardware, general merchandise, drug, barber, and billiards businesses.

31. 238 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L4
c. 1895
A narrow masonry building with dignified, faintly Romanesque-styled details including
rusticated granite piers and voussoirs surrounding a segmental-arched transom. Original
wood framed window and entrance with granite steps intact. Historic photos show an ornate,
prominent pediment - now removed - perched atop the parapet.

Designed as a office, and appearing as such on Sanborn maps for 1896 through 1943. May 
have been built for J.L. Wallace. Serving as the offices of Wallace Abstract for several 
decades into the 1960s.
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32. Goddard Building 236 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L4
c. 1887
A narrow masonry building with flanking cast iron columns, a stuccoed facade, and a
recessed entrance. Storefront kickplates, windows, and transoms recently reconstructed
following interim alterations.

Appears on Sanborn maps from 1888 through 1909 as a barber shop. Occupied by McGee 
Jewelers in the 1940s, '50s, and '60s.

33. 230 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L3
c. 1887
A handsome, single-story brick building with a curvilinear pedimented parapet, corbelled
detailing, flanking cast iron columns, and intact transoms windows.

Appears on 1888 Sanborn maps as a bakery and confectionery. Later occupied as a single 
retail space by general merchandise businesses.

35. 214 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L2
c. 1898
A two-story brick building with corbelled cornice detail, double-hung segmental-arched
windows, and belt coursing. Some original columns and storefront detailing intact, windows
altered. Interior contains an early wooden bar.

Historic photos indicate this building as one of the last on its block to be built. It replaced a 
single-story brick building of the same size. A 1909 Sanborn map shows its occupant as a 
furniture store, followed by a five & dime variety, then a pool hall and barber shop.
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38. Broughton Building 200 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L1
1877
Narrow, single-bay brick building clad in stucco. Angled, recessed front entry. Painted
mural on First Street elevation. Storefront remodeled and smooth-faced stucco applied to
the original brick exterior in the 1930s.

Sanborn maps show a building in this configuration dating back to 1884, but local tradition 
claims a construction date of 1877, making this downtown Dayton's oldest structure. Historic 
photos show corbelled brick parapet details and a painted wall advertisement on the First 
Street elevation. The tiny building has served variously as a bank, cobbler shop, and wall 
paper shop. The Broughton Land Co. office, headquarters of the Broughton family 
enterprises in wool, cattle, and wheat, has occupied the space since 1904.

39. Ford Dealership/Shell Station 176 E. Main
Day's Block, TL88-89
Remodeled c. 1946
A concrete and brick building set back from the sidewalk. Recently converted from a gas
station to an Elk Drug store. Original service canopy removed, and some alteration of
windows and doors. Moderne styling retained, colors and signage replicated.

A Ford dealership and Shell service station built in the post-war years on the site of the long- 
lived Dayton Mercantile Co. Some portions of the early brick mercantile building were 
incorporated into the remodel. Building cut back from Main Street to accommodate off-street 
filling station and auto repair functions.

40. 166 E. Main
Day's Block, TL90
c. 1895
A small brick masonry building with flanking cast iron columns. Most facade details intact,
including transom windows and brick paneling. Display windows more recently replaced.
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The last of four identical storefronts that formed the Dayton Mercantile. This separate but 
similar structure was occupied variously by a restaurant, an undertaker, and a furniture 
store. From 1937 -1941, served as a "home and auto store" with a drive-in ramp through 
the storefront.

41. Criss Furniture 164 E. Main
Day's Block, TL91
c. 1946
A streamlined concrete building with a stucco finish, original suspended metal canopy,
slightly angled aluminum display windows, and vertical neon signage.

Built in the post-war era on the site formerly occupied by the Weinhard Theater, burned 
down by 1916.

Non-Contributing Features Non-contributing features were not present during the period of 
downtown Dayton's significance (1880 through 1949), or have lost integrity through 
extensive storefront and upper story alteration. Numbers correspond to those on the 
accompanying sketch map. Beginning at the lower end of Main Street on the northwest side:

3. 163 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - Block 13, L9
c. 1905
A single-story wood-frame building with a stuccoed facade. Cast iron columns at outer walls.
Entire storefront, canopy, and three false-windows above transom added in a 1964 remodel.

First appears on a 1909 Sanborn map as a candy store and post office. Continued to serve 
as post office until 1964.

7. 205 - 207 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - Block 18, L12 
1882. remodeled 1959
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The first-story remnant of one-half of the Day Block, an anchor structure in downtown 
Dayton. The corner space housed the Columbia National Bank, and the two other 
storefronts drugs, paints, and general merchandise. The second story housed offices. 
Historic photos show the full brick, Italianate-styled building with eleven handsome round- 
arched windows, cast-iron storefronts, bullseye windows on the First Street side, and a bold 
projecting cornice at the roofline. By about 1920, the corner three bays housing the bank 
had been remodeled with a stucco finish, Neo-Classical-classical columns, and a more 
restrained cornice.

13. 257 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B18, L7
1898, remodeled in 1952
A single-story brick masonry building, radically remodeled in 1952, now housing Sterling
Savings Bank.

One-half of a larger structure that includes the building next door (see #12 under 
Contributing Features above), the whole was built by Jacob Weinhard on the site of a former 
frog pond. The larger building served as the general merchandise store of Edwards and 
Hindle Co. This portion was covered over with marblecrete in 1952 for the Broughton 
National Bank. Painted wall signage at rear reads "Edwards-Hindle Department Store."

16. 303-305 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B31 L12
c.1963
A modest, single-story bank/office building with International Style features, including
marblecrete finishes, modular glass and metal panels, and a serrated roofline.

Built on the site of early wood-frame buildings which variously housed an auction house and 
second-hand store, a harness shop, a cafe, a shooting gallery, a Chinese restaurant, a 
cobbler shop, and a barber shop. In the 1940s, these were all removed and replaced by a 
small, hut-style gas station. Newly constructed in 1963, the building houses insurance and 
attorneys' offices.
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17. 307 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B31, L12
c. 1900
A single-story false-fronted building finished with stucco prior to 1930. Parapet detail and
suspended canopy now removed, storefront remodeled with post-1950 materials.

Sanborn maps show various uses and configurations, including a print shop and bakery 
(prior to 1891), and a movie theater and restaurant from 1909.

24. 338 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B30, L3
c. 1900
A narrow little storefront, altered with new but compatible elements. Historic photos show
tbe original building as one-third of a single-story brick structure with distinctive pediment
details at the parapet, triple recessed panels, and vertical transom windows. Major interim
alterations took place in the 1950s.

25. Freddie's Food Mart 330 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B30, L2-3
c.1962
A single-story supermarket building with wide board siding, Roman brick bulkheads, and
plate glass display windows. A suspended canopy and angled corner entrance.

Historic photos show that Freddie's Food Mart and its adjacent parking lot replaced two- 
thirds of a c.1900 brick building (see #24 above), and a two-story wood-frame Italianate 
structure.

26. Seattle First National Bank 306 E. Main
Day and Mustard Plat - B30, L1-2
1976
A free-standing, gable-roofed bank building set back from the sidewalk and separated by two
parking lots from its neighbor (see #25 above). Incompatible in siting, massing, and roof
configuration.
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Historic photos show that the Seattle First National Bank and its parking lot replaced two 
brick masonry structures, one of them the prominent three-story IOOF Hall. That substantial 
Italianate building, erected in 1891, housed a bank, a furniture store, an undertaker, and 
picture framing businesses on the ground floor, as well as the Odd Fellows meeting hall on 
the third floor.

27. Hotel Dayton 260-262 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L6
1891
A single-story remnant of the once showy Hotel Dayton. Present structure has exterior
stucco, and rustic quoins at the columns. All other features - storefronts, entrances, and
suspended canopy are recent modifications.

The Hotel Dayton was designed by local Dayton architect W.H. Burrows for proprietor John 
Borofsky in 1891. Second Empire in style, the hotel contained 54 rooms, a dining room, and 
soda fountain. The Mansard roof had projecting dormer windows, a tower above the primary 
entrance on Second Street, and decorative iron cresting. The second and third stories were 
removed after a fire.

34. Lockwood Building 218 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19, L2-3
1890
A two-story masonry building now stuccoed. Original flanking stone quoins, decorative
parapet, and cast iron columns. Cornice, upper-story windows, and storefronts all part of
faux-facade painted onto stucco, based on historic photos.

Building appears on 1889 Sanborn map as "being built." By 1891, it housed an agricultural 
implements and carriage business, as well as the "Columbia Chronicle" printing offices on 
the second floor. From 1909, dry goods and clothing were sold in the retail space, with club 
rooms of the "Dayton Club" above. From 1924 to 1960, J.C. Penney occupied the main 
floor, with the Eagles meeting hall upstairs.
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36. 210 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B19 L1
c. 1895
A much-altered single-story masonry building. Facade clad in blond brick, storefront entirely
replaced, and no original detail visible.

Original structure had decorative brick corbelling, and a traditional storefront with deep 
recessed central entry. Occupied as a jewelry and stationery story in the 191 Os.

37. 202-204 E. Main
Day's Original Plat - B10, TL19
c. 1895
A thoroughly altered single-story masonry building. Complete 1950s slipcover, storefront
entirely replaced, and no original detail visible.

A single-story brick building with decorative brick textures and corbelling at the roof line. 
Served variously as a grocery market and office.

42. 148 E. Main
Day's Block, TL92
c. 1900
A single-story masonry building altered since 1950 with stucco cladding, canopy, and angled
storefront. No original features visible except for exposed brick wall to side.

Served as the printing office of the "Columbia Dispatch" in the 1910s, later as machine shop.
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8. Statement of Significance

Downtown Dayton, Washington, is significant as a reminder of the promise of late 19th and 
early 20th century agriculture on the southeastern Columbia Plateau. The town of Dayton 
emerged in the 1870s as a prosperous agricultural service center. Stimulated by the 
enormous success of regional dry-land wheat farming, by its designation as the seat of 
Columbia County in 1875, and by the arrival of the railroad in 1881, Dayton flourished as the 
hub of local commerce. Through the first half of the 20th century, downtown Dayton 
continued to grow and adapt in response to changing patterns of agriculture, transportation, 
and government. The Downtown Dayton Historic District illustrates these changes in 
tangible ways. As a whole, the district represents the physical evolution of the heart of a 
small community, sustained by agriculture for over 130 years.

Exploration and Settlement

Prior to formation of a town, the fertile valley of the Touchet River is said to have been a 
crossroads and summer gathering place for indigenous peoples. These included bands of 
Walla Walla, Cayuse and Palouse Indians and, to a lesser extent, Nez Perce and Umatilla. 
Indian trails from four directions crossed the Touchet River near the present-day railroad 
bridge. Here on common grounds, native inhabitants gathered to hunt, socialize, and race 
ponies along what is now Main Street.

The first Euro-Americans to pass through the valley were Lewis and Clark who, on their 
return trip in 1806, camped a few miles up Patit Creek from the future townsite of Dayton. 
The trail led near what is now Dayton's Main Street, up the course of the Patit, and dropped 
down into the Tucannon River valley. Lewis and Clark are said to have named the Touchet 
River "White Stallion" in honor of the beautiful white horse presented to them a few days 
earlier by a Walla Walla chieftain.

Trappers, missionaries, and military men passed through the area over the next fifty years, 
as the struggle for control of the vast Oregon country progressed. By the time of the Yakima
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War (1855 -1858), two settlers had staked claims and built cabins at the future townsite of 
Dayton. They abandoned their claims in 1855 during the height of the tension. It was not 
until the spring and summer of 1859 that settlement resumed, this time by families intent on 
staying. Over the next two decades, homesteading on the Columbia Plateau was 
concentrated in this region, south of the Snake River in the Walla Walla, Touchet, and 
Tucannon watersheds.

Among the first to arrive was Jesse N. Day, for whom Dayton would be named. Day came 
over from the Willamette Valley of Oregon. He first considered the abandoned claims, but 
chose instead a donation claim further downstream on the Touchet River. In the fall of 1860 
he returned with his family. Two brothers by the name of Schnebly did take up part of the 
earlier claim, put up a log structure for a store and engaged in trading with the Indians. In 
1861, G.W. Miller and Elisha Ping were the first to raise and market crops of oats and wheat 
on the remaining acreage of the future townsite.

With the discovery of gold in Idaho, the fledgling community became a regular stage stop on 
the overland route from Walla Walla to Lewiston. Henry H. Rickey leased Schneble's place 
and turned the trading post into a hotel for the accommodation of travelers. A stable for the 
stage stock, a tavern, and a post office for "Touchet" followed. In 1864, Jesse Day acquired 
the ranch he had eyed since his arrival. Here he re-stocked the general store, operated the 
hotel as needed, and built a house for his family. Between 1861 and 1865, the tiny 
settlement stayed alive through the business of feeding and outfitting a steady stream of 
miners and adventurers.

By the late 1860s, it was apparent that agriculture rather than mineral wealth would support 
the economy of the southeast Columbia Plateau. The earliest settlers were stockmen. They 
occupied and cultivated the fertile, low-lying river bottom lands, and used the benchlands 
and adjacent slopes for grazing both cattle and sheep. The high rolling uplands were 
regarded as too dry, and thus unsuited for crops. In the spring of 1864, however, some 
farmers in Walla Walla harvested 33 bushels of grain per acre from hilly terrain planted the 
previous fall. News of the unexpected fertility of the high dry slopes spread quickly. It was 
the astounding success of dry-land grain production that inspired the founding of the town of 
Dayton.
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Dayton Established as an Agricultural Service Center: 1870s

At this strategic location on the Touchet River, settler Jesse Day envisioned a full-fledged 
town to serve the region's growing population of farmers and ranchers. There was need for 
a commercial center, and not a better location for miles around.

Jesse Day had a townsite surveyed, changed the post office name to Dayton, and waited for 
a year forpeople to come. When nobody came, Day conferred with S.M. Waite, whose mill 
enterprises had jump-started the nearby community of Waitsburg. Waite offered to build a 
flouring mill in Dayton in exchange for certain incentives in the way of land and water power. 
To that end, Jesse Day donated five acres of land, a mill site along the banks of the Touchet 
River, and one block each for residences for Waite and his partner, William Matzger.

j
Within a few short years, resource-based industries had raised confidence in the future of 
the town, and attracted newcomers. Construction of the flouring mill spurred the first burst of 
local development. Jesse and his wife Elizabeth Day formally recorded the plat of Dayton at 
the courthouse in Walla Walla on November 23, 1871. The new townsite encompassed 
some 20 square blocks on both sides of the Touchet, extending from Spring Street to Patit 
Streets, and from Second to Willow Streets. The sale of lots for business purposes on Main 
Street boomed. The following spring, Waite and Matzger erected a planing mill, and soon a 
third industry, the Dayton Woolen Mills, was introduced. By the fall of 1872, Dayton's 
population had swelled to 500.

Through the 1870s, Dayton remained a strategic transportation link within the region - 
regular six-horse stage coach service connected Dayton with Walla Walla and Lewiston. By 
the end of the decade, the newly-formed Oregon Railway and Navigation Company had 
planned a program of railroad construction into the fertile wheat belt to the north and east of 
Walla Walla.

Dayton's future as a government center was assured in 1875, when Columbia County, along 
with what is now Garfield and Asotin Counties, was separated from Walla Walla County. 
Dayton served as the temporary county seat, a distinction which was then confirmed by
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general election in 1876. Two years later, Dayton was formally incorporated and a city hall 
constructed. Over the course of ten years, the town's social and political institutions took 
root. Newspapers, a library, churches, and fraternal lodges were established. The town 
gained fire protection and a telegraph service.

By the end of that energetic first decade, Dayton boasted a population of 800. Five additions 
had been made to the original townsite before the close of the 1870s. Besides the three 
mills, there were two large hotels, a handful of brick business blocks, and a predominantly 
wood-frame commercial district that stretched along three blocks of Main Street from Front to 
Third Streets.

Although no buildings within the historic district survive from this initial decade of 
construction, the grid pattern, the street names, the orientation of downtown to the Touchet 
River bridge crossing, are all the direct result of Jesse Day's original plat of 1871.

Decades of Prosperity: 1880s - 1890s

Agriculture on the southwest Columbia Plateau was transformed in the early 1880s by the 
arrival of the railroad to remote farming centers. This event energized the economy of the 
entire region. Like the communities of Walla Walla, Waitsburg, and Pomeroy, Dayton 
flourished in the 1880s and 1890s. Dayton's historic downtown is a direct result of its most 
prosperous decade, the 1880s, and is inextricably linked to developments in both 
transportation and agriculture during that time period.

Prior to existence of the railroad, local farmers in the wheat districts northeast of Walla Walla 
had hauled their grain harvest overland to steamboat landings on the Snake River. The river 
lay 2000 feet below the uplands, and was accessed by tortuous, rugged trails down steep 
tributary canyons. From there, the grain was shipped to the Columbia River, around several 
portages, downstream to Portland, and hence to England, California, and the East. In May 
of 1880, an official of the O.R.&N. Co. visited Dayton and announced the company's plans 
for linking the wheat country more directly to Portland by rail. The first phase would include 
an extension of the line from Walla Walla to Grange City on the Snake River. A short branch 
line would be built into Dayton, if citizens would donate the right-of-way and a depot site.
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The arrival of the O.R.&N. line in the summer of 1881 ensured sustained economic vitality for 
Dayton as a shipping center of farm products. Dayton's handsome new wood-frame 
passenger depot, designed in the fashionable Stick/Eastlake style, was erected in 1881 
along the main line, across the Touchet River and south of downtown. The Union Pacific 
Railroad took control of the O.R.&N. line and the depot in 1887.

Two years later, in 1889, a second railroad entered Dayton, this time laying tracks directly 
through the downtown along Commercial Street, one block northwest of Main Street. 
Commonly called the Hunt line, this competing railroad was an instrument of the Northern 
Pacific Railway. The new right-of-way altered the character of downtown Dayton, and 
changed the nature of its future development. Sanborn fire insurance maps for 1891 and 
years after depict the demise of small wood-frame sheds, corrals, and dwellings along 
Commercial Street, and their replacement by industrial and railroad-related warehouses. By 
1891, a spur track from the flouring mill crossed Main Street, followed Front, and rounded 
the corner onto Commercial past a large new grain warehouse.

It was not until 1899 that the then nearly 20-year-old O.R.&N. depot was moved on roller 
logs pulled by horse and winch to parallel tracks on the Commercial Street right-of-way. 
Since that time, at its new location on Second and Commercial, the train station has served 
as a nucleus of downtown Dayton, remaining in continuous railroad use until 1971. The 
oldest surviving passenger station in Washington State, the ornate two-story building was 
listed in the National Register in 1974.

Prior to the construction of a county courthouse, Columbia County leased office and 
courtroom space from existing commercial buildings in downtown Dayton. In 1882, residents 
voted on a proposal to erect a courthouse, but the proposal was defeated. As it turned out, 
it was necessary to secure both Territorial Council and Congressional approval to build a 
courthouse, because Washington was still a U.S. Territory. Four years later, with these 
approvals in hand, the citizenry approved the construction of a suitable new edifice.

The Columbia County Courthouse was completed in July of 1887, at a cost of $38,000. 
Local architect W.H. Burrows was retained to design the elegant Italianate structure. Its 
impressive central cupola was complete with a Mansard roof and iron cresting, and its 
pediments were topped with statuary. The courthouse was built at the center of a block that
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had been reserved for public use, facing Main Street, between Third and Fourth Streets. 
Trees and green grass were planted around the square. A small detached jail was built at 
the rear of the block.

The Columbia County Courthouse has continued in uninterrupted use as the center of 
county government in Dayton ever since its completion. Its prominent scale, distinctive style, 
and civic symbolism make it a pivotal property in the downtown district. Despite the loss of 
its central tower, the building was individually listed in the National Register in 1975. The 
courthouse was restored through massive community effort in 1991 - 1992, including a 
faithful reconstruction of its tower.

The widespread prosperity of the southeast Columbia Plain during the 1880s and 1890s was 
made manifest in the many handsome Italianate brick business blocks and fine Queen Anne, 
Italianate, and Gothic houses built in the wheat-'belt towns during that era. Dayton, like 
Walla Walla, Waitsburg, and Pomeroy, enjoyed a development boom that swelled to a peak 
in the late 1880s, then resumed to some degree after the recession of the mid-1890s. The 
great majority of extant buildings in the Downtown Dayton Historic District date from this 
flourishing period.

Fire destroyed much of Dayton's wood-frame downtown in the early 1880s. After the largest 
fire in 1882, new commercial construction downtown was entirely of brick. Brick was 
manufactured locally at A.J. Dexter's brick yard, established in the 1870s. Two planing mills 
were well-supplied with lumber from logging operations on the Wolfe Fork of the Touchet 
River. A 21-mile flume was built to send logs directly into town. Sanborn maps from the 
1880s show the existence of a Columbia Iron Works at the upper end of downtown. The 
availability of all necessary local building materials, and the presence in town of an 
accomplished architect, W.H. Burrows, helped to foster the intense building activity of the 
period.

The appearance of many new businesses in Dayton in the 1880s speaks to the wealth of the 
larger agricultural community. Banks, real estate firms, title and abstract companies, and 
loan businesses opened. Sanborn maps and city directories for the period reveal the wide 
range of services available to meet the needs of both town and country residents. Some of 
the services and products for sale within Dayton's four-block downtown included: liveries,
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agricultural implements, saloons, Chinese laundries, cobblers, wall-paper and picture 
framing, saddles and harness, printing, butchers, breweries, opera house, pianos, 
undertakers, billiards, millinery, carriages, hardware, hotels, books & stationery, dry goods, 
blacksmithing, paints, drugs, banks, and restaurants.

Dayton in the 20th Century

By 1900, Dayton had grown to a population of 2,200. Fifteen additions had been made to 
the town plat. The community was sustained by its underlying agriculture - "wheatlands of 
unsurpassed richness, a valley given over to orcharding and other intensive activities, 
and...sufficient forest resources to support two fair-sized mills" (Meinig, p. 327).

Dayton's resource-based economy brought relative stability through the first three decades 
of the century. Columbia County remained at the forefront in annual shipments of wheat 
and, until Prohibition in the 1920s, barley. Apple orchards flourished, and sheep ranching 
stayed competitive. Dayton's downtown flouring mill remained in operation under the names 
of Portland Flouring Mill and Northern Milling Company.

With the relocation of the passenger depot to Second and Commercial Streets in 1899, rail 
transportation assumed a more discernible role in the vitality of downtown. The O.R.&N. Co. 
built a large freight depot (now demolished) on the right-of-way behind what is now Dingle's 
Hardware on Main and First Streets. There was daily passenger service to Walla Walla.

With the advent of the motor car, an auto stage operated through Dayton between Walla 
Walla and Lewiston. Increasingly, automobiles appear in historic photos of downtown 
through the 1920s. By 1915, the highway through downtown Dayton had been paved. 
Sanborn maps from 1916 show a handful of auto-oriented businesses such as repair shops 
and an "auto and wagon repository." Signs at First and Main Streets directed motorists to an 
"auto park" or tourist camp, just one block south of the downtown.

As Dayton's economy stabilized, new commercial development in the downtown proper 
tapered off in these first several decades. Modest infill buildings went in where vacant lots 
or aging wood-frame buildings had stood. Early 20th century buildings continued all of the 
traditional streetscape characteristics of the earlier decades, including the use of brick,
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human-scaled storefronts, and interesting decorative parapets. A sense of continuity and 
compatibility with the existing architecture was maintained. One major remodel occurred on 
the corner one-third of the Day Block. Here, the Columbia National Bank altered the cornice, 
windows, and storefront of the Italianate building with Classical-Revival columns and a 
stucco finish over the brick. Historic photos from the 1920s reveal a bustling, but pedestrian- 
oriented downtown, with every storefront in business.

Commerce continued to thrive downtown through the 1920s. In 1909, Charles Broughton 
started another local bank, the Broughton National Bank. There were six attorneys and four 
doctors in town in the j mid-1910s. Major businesses in the downtown located within the 
historic district included Edwards-Hindle Clothing & Groceries, Monnett & Hamilton 
Hardware, Sayers General Merchandise, Elk Drug Store, the Dayton Hotel, Chandlers Meat 
Market, Prater & Rinehart Implements, and the Robinson Harness and Leather Shop. Within 
the full four-block length of Main Street were three saloons, three theaters, three bakeries, 
and four liveries. J

Because of its agricultural linkages to the larger economy, Dayton suffered during the Great 
Depression. The Dayton Flour Mill closed its doors, taking with it the community's largest 
year-round payroll. Wheat dropped to 25-cents a bushel, and apples were unmarketable. 
Both local banks managed to stay afloat, but fully one-third of the businesses on Main Street 
closed their doors. No new construction or building improvements occurred in the 
downtown. In 1934, the town was saved by the Minnesota Valley Canning Company's 
construction of a peas and asparagus canning factory. The payroll is said to have prevented 
the town from complete de-population. The Columbia County Grain Growers emerged 
during this decade, and still occupy office space in the downtown historic district.

Dayton boomed once again with the advent of World War Two. Population in town had 
grown to 2,900, an increase of some 400 people since 1930. High demand for wheat, peas, 
asparagus, apples, and lumber stimulated the economy. Green Giant Company bought the 
cannery at Dayton, further reviving the town's rate of employment. The flour mill reopened 
as a feed mill and remained in full operation until its destruction by fire in 1954. The 
automobile assumed primary importance as the mode of passenger transportation 
throughout the county, bringing distinct visual changes to Main Street. These included four 
lanes of through-traffic, parallel parking, an increase in bold neon signage, and gas stations. 
Just a few new commercial buildings went up in the built-up blocks of downtown Dayton,
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these in a stripped-down Art Moderne mode. The late 1940s marked the very beginnings of 
a trend toward updating the street facades of the old brick buildings with sleek, plain- 
surfaced sidings and "modern" storefronts. As in small downtowns across America, the 
decade of the 1950s would see an accelerated loss of architectural integrity in downtown 
Dayton.
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10. Geographical Data 

Verbal Boundary Description

The Downtown Dayton Historic District lies in the NW quarter of Section 24, T10N, R39E, 
Willamette Meridian, in the city of Dayton, Washington.

The district boundary begins at the northernmost corner of Courthouse Square at 
Commercial Street and Third Street; runs southeast along the edge of the Third Street right- 
of-way; turns to the southwest along the centerline of the alley between Main and Clay 
Streets; continues along said alley centerline to the southernmost corner of Tax Lot 92, 
Day's Block; turns to the northwest along the boundary of said tax lot; crosses over Main 
Street to the southernmost corner of Lot 10, Block 13, Day's Original Plat; runs northwest 
along the boundary of said lot; continues northwest along the boundary of Lot 5, Block 13, 
Day's Original Plat, to a point of intersection with the right-of-way of the old Oregon Railroad 
and Navigation Co.; turns northeast along the edge of said right-of-way to point of beginning.

Boundary Justification

The district boundary encompasses two and one-half blocks of Dayton's four-block-long 
commercial center, including both sides of Main Street. These particular commercial blocks 
represent the strongest extant concentration of late 19th and early 20th century historic 
structures, and the fewest open spaces and non-contributing structures. The historic 
railroad right-of-way forms the northwestern boundary of the district. The Dayton Depot, and 
the Columbia County Courthouse and its surrounding green square, anchor the 
northernmost corner of the district.
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Photograph Captions

Downtown Dayton Historic District
Columbia County, Washington
Photographer: Jack Williams
October, 1998
Negatives on file: Dayton Historical Depot Society, Dayton, WA.

Photo A: Streetscape, showing map features #4 and 5. View from corner of First and 
Main Streets, camera facing west.

B: 157 E. Main, map feature #2. Camera facing northwest.

C: 205 - 207 E. Main, map feature #7 (non-contributing). Camera facing 
northwest.

D: Guernsey-Sturdevant Building, 217 - 225 E. Main, map feature #9. Camera 
facing northwest.

E: Streetscape, showing map features #7, 8, 9, and 10. View from mid-block on 
Main Street between First and Second, camera facing west.

F: Monnett & Hamilton Buildings, 241 E. Main, map feature #11. Camera facing 
northwest.

G: Dayton Depot, map feature # 14. Camera facing east.

H: 303-305 E. Main, map feature #16 (non-contributing). Camera facing 
northwest.

I: Columbia County Courthouse, map feature #19. Camera facing northwest.
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J: Streetscape. View from corner of Second and Main Streets, camera facing 
southwest.

K: Suffield's Furniture, 362 E. Main, map feature # 20. Camera facing southeast.

L: Columbia Chronicle Building, 358 E. Main, map feature #21. Camera facing 
southeast.

M: Hubbard Building, 350-352 E. Main, map feature #22. Camera facing 
southeast.

N: 238 E. Main, map feature #31. Camera facing southeast. 

0: 230 E. Main, map feature #33. Camera facing southeast.

P: Lockwood Building, 218 E. Main, map feature #34 (non-contributing). Camera 
facing southeast.

Q: Streetscape, showing map features #34 (tallest building mid-block), 35, 36 and 
37 (non-contributing), and 38. View from corner of First and Main Street, 
camera facing east.

R: Ford Dealership/Shell Station, 176 E. Main, map feature #39. Camera facing 
southeast.
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